
be said, however, that his researches have led him to the conclusion, surprising at first glance, that the Chiltern Hills was a region of fairly advanced agricultural prac­tices in the Middle Ages. One gathers that the 13th century was the heyday of Chit­tern farming, when extensive crop production on large demesne farms, often enclosed, was the normal pattern. Alongside this improved manorial economy, there existed an active peasant land market, which resulted in a more flexible system of land holding whereby some were able to build up substantial farms while others were consolidat­ing their land. The paper on the history of enclosure is worthy of close attention for the new light it throws on a dark subject. The importance of woodland in the Chiltern scheme of things hardly needs to be stressed and Dr. Roden's paper on woodland management in the medieval period is of special value. He brings out the distinction between private woods, profitable as a source of fuel particularly for the London market, and the common woods, which provided timber, pannage, and herbage for the villagers. Disputes about the ancient rights of the latter in woodlands are met with through the centuries. Similar agrarian studies for other areas of the county are called for and no doubt will be accomplished in course of time; the trail has been most effectively blazed by the a11thor of these very acceptable papers. J.G.J. 
WOLVERTON HISTORICAL JOURNAL. Published by Phillimore & Co. Ltd. for the Wolverton and District Archaeological Society. Quarto, 64pp. 15s. (75p.) The Society is to be complimented on the dignified and handsome appearance of its journal in this new format. The contents, which are nicely balanced and of high merit throughout, fully justify the new garb. 
THE SURVEY OF ENGLISH PLACE-NAMES. Vol. I. Introduction and Chief Elements, Vol. 2. The Place-Names of Buckinghamshire. By A. Mawer and F. M. Stenton. Cambridge University Press 1969. £4.50 each volume. Both these volumes, the first two in a long series of county volumes were originally issued by the English Place-Name Society in 1925 and have been out of print for many years. It must be regretted that the reprinted is a photographic one of the first edition and no opportunity has been taken to revise the text in the light of much new knowledge accumulated in the last 45 years. However they remain invaluable reference books. 

THE SOCIETY 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING. This was held at the County Museum on lith April 1970. There were no changes in the officers, except that Major J.D. Young, the Lord Lieutenant and Custos Rotulorum, was elected a Vice-President and Mr. Elvey took over as Hon. Editor from the President. Subsequent to the meeting, Mr. R. J. Ayres of Stony Stratford was co-opted to the Council to replace Mr. D. Mynard and the Rev. R. H. Collier of Shabbington to replace Mr. Baines who is now a County Council representative. 
MEMBERSHIP. In April 1970, ordinary members were 620; there were four honorary and six junior members and twelve Affiliated Societies, a total of 642. 180 were also members of the Natural History Section. 
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Mr. W. J. Winter-Taylor was elected to Honorary Membership after sixty years as an ordinary member. 
THE LIBRARY. Mr H. R. Brackley was appointed Assistant Honorary Librarian and has, with Mrs. Elvey, done much work on rearranging and cataloguing the Society's Library in the Grinnell Room. 
OUTINGS IN 1970 9th May 
27th June 
18th July 
1st August 18th September 

Tythrop House (Mr. Jeremy Cotton) and Notley Abbey. (Mr. J. G. Danny) Luton Hoo, Bedfordshire and St. Paul's, Waldenbury, Herts. (Lady Bowes-Lyon) Hinwick House (Captain R. A B. Orlebar) and Courteenhall, Northamptonshire. (Sir Hereward Wake Bart.) Alihridge, Hertfordsbire and P itstone Village. Huntercombe Manor. (Bucks. County Council) 
All the visits were well supported, the first being heavily over-subscribed, and all were favoured with good weather. The visit to Pitstone was exceptional. The Pitstone Local History Society, who have done so much for the neighbourhood, showed parties of members round the restored windmill, the watermill in action, and their excellent collection of village and farming "bygones" and also laid on tea. We are also indebted to the owners of houses visited above for inviting us to their homes. E.V. 

OBITUARY 
C. M. TRELAWNY IRVING. By the death of Charles Maxwell Trelawny Irving in April 1970, at the age of 91, the Society lost a keen and much-respected supporter. A member of Council for many years and a Vice-President, at his death, he had served the Society in many ways. In particular his generous and ready help enabled the Society to acquire Ceely House when it became available in 1944 thus making possible the subsequent development of the Museum. He took the chair with great skill and good humour at several Annual General Meetings in the absence of Sir Alan Barlow and continuecl his interest in the Society to the very end of his long life. At the start of his career he was an artist, the exact contemporary of John and Sickert. He studied in London and Paris and had a studio in Fitzroy Street. Later he turned to the law (he was a qualified barrister) and to business where his natural shrewdness brought him great success. After being cured in 1925 of a serious illness by Stanley Lief, he founded Champneys , the nature cure resort near Tring, and remained its Chairman till his death. He was also interested in land and property development; quite early in career he had the foresight to realise the inevitable devel­opment of New Amersham, at a time when it was just a new railway station on top of the hill. In 1936 he bought Wellwick Manor at the foot of the Chilterns near Wendover, one of the loveliest of Bucks. Manor Houses and although he kept his connections with Cornwall and latterly spent the winters abroad, he returned to Bucks. each summer, always, I suspect, with pleasure. 

The only other death recorded in 1970 was that of Mr. F. Gibbs. 
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E.V. 




